INTRODUCTION 
i 

I Recognizing that West Virginians are entitled to receive quality medical care and facilities, 
I' 

the West Virginia Medical Professional Liability Act ("MPLA") protects those who suffer injury 

or death from negligent conduct of health care providers. W. Va. Code§ 55-7B-1. The circuit 

court's order in this case strips these critical MPLA entitlements and protections from one 

particularly vulnerable group, those suffering from mental illness so severe that they are driven to 

take their own lives. 

According to the circuit court's order, the only situation in which a health care provider's 

negligent act can constitute the proximate cause of a patient's suicide is if: (1) the decedent patient 

was in the health care provider's custodial care at the time of the suicide, (2) the health care 

provider knows that the potential for suicide exists, and (3) if the health care provider fails to take 

me~sures to prevent the suicide. (JA0212-213) Applying the circuit court's reasoning, health care 

providers may deviate from even ordinary standards of skill and diligence without consequence if 

the "only" harm caused is an outpatient's death by suicide. In fact, affirming the circuit court's 

order sets dangerous precedent whereby it is legally safer for a healthcare provider with a 

knowingly suicidal outpatient to take no action to protect the patient rather than take steps to 

intervene for fear of creating a previously non-existent "special relationship" which could result 

in potential liability for a patient's suicide. 

Justification for such a result is found nowhere in the Medical Professional Liability Act, 

which explicitly requires all health care providers, regardless of whether their patients are 

inpatients or outpatients, to exercise that degree of care required or expected of reasonable, prudent 

health care providers in similar circumstances. Such a disregard for patient protection is absent in 

any other medical situations dealing with more traditional physical ailments. Does the law view 

those suffering from mental illness less deserving of protection? 



The circuit court's deviation from the plain language and requirements of the MPLA is an 

unintended consequence of the circuit court's reliance on, and misunderstanding of, two factually 

distinct cases in which this Court reached the correct outcome for different legal reasons. 

For these reasons, which are further discussed herein, Petitioner respectfully asks that this 

Court reverse the circuit court's dismissal, and that Petitioner be given the opportunity to engage 

in discovery which will either prove or disprove the elements of Petitioner's claims. 

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. The Circuit Court Erred by Finding No Special Relationship Leading to a Duty to 
Prevent Suicide Exists Between a Patient and Her Health Care Providers Despite Over 
10 Years of Monthly Treatment Which Continued Until 10 Days Before Patient's Death. 

II. The Circuit Court Erred by Finding that Health Care Providers of Knowingly Suicidal 
Outpatients Have No Obligation to Exercise Even Reasonably Ordinary Care. 

III. The Circuit Court Erred by applying the Moats/Hull precedent in a manner that does not 
I 

,treat all persons within the class of medical negligence claimants equally in violation of 
:the Equal Protection guarantee in Article III §17 of the West Virginia Constitution. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. Procedural History 

On June 25, 2020, Christopher Morris, individually and as Administrator of the Estate of 

An:iy Christine Wade, filed a lawsuit in the Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia for the 

negligent treatment of Amy Christine Wade by: psychiatry specialist Steven Corder, M.D.; 

psychiatric therapist Melanie Bassa, MA; psychiatric nurse practitioner Martha Donahue, NP; and 

their employers: Northwood Health Systems, Inc. and Mid-Valley Healthcare, Inc. (collectively 

referred to herein as "Respondents"). The Complaint alleged that the Respondents' negligent 

deviation from the required standard of care in the treatment of Amy Christine Wade led to her 

death on June 30, 2018. (JA0004, 0008, 0010-12) According to the Certificate of Merit issued by 

David Purselle, M.D., who is certified by the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology, 
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Respondents deviated from the national standard of care in the treatment of Ms. Wade and that 

their failure to attempt any changes to her treatment or medication or to contact her family 

constituted gross negligence. (JA0157-181) 

In July 2020, Respondents filed motions to dismiss, which the circuit court granted on 

August 26, 2020. Despite the Complaint's allegations that Respondents failed to act in compliance 

with the applicable standard of care using the appropriate standard of care even though they knew 

of Ms. Wade's deteriorating mental condition and recently expressed suicidal ideations to the very 

mental health providers from whom she sought help, the circuit court found that Petitioner failed 

to assert a claim upon which relief could be granted because the Complaint "fail[ ed] to allege that 

the decedent was in the custody of any Defendant at the time of her suicide." (JA0214) 

Specifically, the circuit court made the following relevant findings of fact in its Order at 

JA0212-13: 

(1) Plaintiffs Complaint was brought pursuant to the MPLA; 

(2) "Decedent was a long-time patient of the individual Defendants and Defendant~ 
Northwood artd Mid-Valley Healthcare primarily through periodic office visits with 
various mental health professionals ... "; and 

(3) "At no time was Decedent in the voluntary or involuntary custody of any of the 
Defendants ... " and " ... all services were rendered on an out-patient basis." 

The circuit court also made the following relevant findings as a matter of law in its order 

dismissing Petitioner's case at JA0211-14: 

(I) " ... negligence actions seeking damages for the suicide of another have generally been 
barred because the act of suicide is considered deliberate and intentional, and therefore, 
an intervening act that precludes a finding that the defendant is responsible ... " 

(2) " ... courts have allowed such [ suicide negligence] actions where the defendant is found 
to have actually caused the suicide or where the defendant is found to have had a duty 
to prevent the suicide from occurring." 

(3) "The Complaint merely alleges that Defendants deviated from the standard of care as 
healthcare professionals increasing the risk of Decedent's suicide" and "[ s ]uch 
allegation is antithetical to the discussion in Moats ... " 
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(4) that a health care provider may only be held liable for the suicide of another if 
" ... (1) the health care provider has a duty of custodial care, (2) the health care provider 
knows that the potential for suicide exists, and (3) the health care provider fails to take 
measures to prevent the suicide from occurring." 

(5) the" ... findings in Hull are entirely consistent with Moats." 

(6) " ... Plaintiffs Complaint fails to assert a claim upon which relief may be granted 
because the allegations fail to allege that decedent was in the custody of any Defendant 
at the time of her suicide on June 30, 2018 ... " 

This appeal timely followed. 

II. Statement of Facts 

The Complaint further explained that Ms. Wade received treatment from Respondents 

beginning in January 2008, consisting of monthly scheduled appointments, during which time she 

was diagnosed by one or more of the Respondents with paranoid schizophrenia, borderline mental 

functioning, panic disorder agoraphobia, and that she was treated for these conditions with a 

combination of pharmaceuticals, clinical management, and counseling. (JA0004) According to the 

Complaint, in the years before her death, Ms. Wade had been admitted to a crisis stabilization unit 

and Respondents' facilities operated crisis stabilization units. (JA0005) 

Beginning on or around February 28, 2018, according to the Complaint, Ms. Wade's 

condition began to decline and on several occasions in the months that followed she reported 

auditory hallucinations and threatening visual hallucinations. (JA0005-6) On March 22, 2018, the 

Complaint alleges that it was noted that Ms. Wade's emotional instability was higher than it had 

been in a long time and that on April 25, 2018, Ms. Wade made irrational claims about the death 

of her grandson and reported increased sadness, crying spells, decreased sleep, and increased 

weepiness. (JA0006) On June 11, 2019, nineteen days before her death, the Complaint alleges that 

Ms. Wade's condition continued to rapidly decline, she presented with a disheveled appearance, 

reported that she "doesn't sleep anymore," and that her "life has been hell," and that she had three 

suicidal ideations the week prior. (JA0006) Finally, according to the Complaint, ten days before 
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her death, on June 20, 2018, Ms. Wade reported that she had been in "such a state of panic" that 

she was forced to seek treatment at an Emergency Department. Id During this time, the Complaint 

alleges that Ms. Wade's medical providers did not attempt to make any changes to her clinical 

treatment or to her prescription medications, did not investigate the emergency treatment she 

reported receiving, and did not consult a specialist or Ms. Wade's family to discuss her condition 

or her need for hospitalization to one of Respondents' crisis stabilization units. (JA0006-7) Ms. 

Wade followed through on her suicidal threats she had expressed to the mental health care provider 

Respondents on June 30, 2018. 

III. Standard of Review 

In West Virginia, "[t]he single purpose of a motion to dismiss under subdivision 12(b)(6) 

is to seek a determination whether the plaintiff is entitled to offer evidence to support the claims 

made in the complaint. Dimon v. Mansy, 198 W. Va. 40,479 S.E.2d 339 (1996). "Appellate review 

of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is de novo. "Keith v. Lawrence, 

No. 15-0223, 2015 WL 7628691, *3 (2015) ((citing Syllabus Point 2, State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott 

Runyan Pontiac-Buick, 194 W. Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995)). As this Court explained in 

Chapman v. Kane Transfer Co., Inc., 160 W. Va. 530, 236 S.E.2d 207 (1977), "Rule 12(b)(6) 
' 

should be granted only if it appears beyond doubt that plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support 

of his claims which would entitle him to relief." 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

In this case, Respondents owed - and breached - two distinct duties to Amy Christine 

Wade, the Decedent. First, Respondents had a statutory duty under the West Virginia Medical 

Professional Liability Act ("MPLA") to provide health care exercising "that degree of care, skill 

and learning required or expected of a reasonable, prudent health care provider in the profession 

or class to which [Respondents] belong[] acting in the same or similar circumstances." W. Va. 

Code § 55-7B-3. Respondents' failure to fulfill this statutory duty was the proximate cause of 

Decedent's death and resulted in Respondents' liability under the MPLA. Second, by virtue of the 

special relationship between Ms. Wade and the mental health care Respondents, Respondents 

owed Ms. Wade a duty to prevent her foreseeable suicide. Moats v. Preston County Commission, 

206 W. Va. 8, 521 S.E.2d 180 (1999). Respondents' failure to meet this duty was likewise a 

proximate cause of her death and a basis for liability. 

In consideration of Respondents' motions to dismiss, the circuit court erred, first by wholly 

bypassing Respondents' general duty under the MPLA to "render reasonable and ordinary care in 

the diagnosis and treatment of a,patient." Bunner v. Unites States, No. 613-cv-20655, 2016 WL 

1261151 (Mar. 30, 2016 S.D.W. Va.). Instead, the circuit court focused only on whether 

Respondents had a duty to prevent Decedent's suicide. Second, the circuit court erred in its 

determination that a duty to prevent a patient's suicide cannot exist when a person receives 

treatment on an outpatient basis. Such a finding contravenes law and public policy. Third, the 

circuit court erred by reaching conclusions on issues of disputed fact which must be decided by a 

Jury·. 

The circuit court's order unjustifiably places unique legal burdens on the families of those 

bringing medical malpractice claims involving the suicide of a loved one in violation of long­

standing Equal Protection guarantees of the West Virginia and United States Constitution. The 

6 



wholesale exemption of health care providers from medical malpractice claims when an outpatient 

commits a foreseeable suicide denies statutory MPLA protection to vulnerable mental health care 

recipients. Such harsh treatment in suicide cases is rooted in society's medieval views of suicide 

as "sinful and immoral" carried out by "lunatics" and "madm[ e ]n" in fits of "raving madness" 

rather than as a symptom of a valid medical condition. See Alex B. Long, Abolishing the Suicide 

Ru/~, 113 NW. U.L. Rev. 767, 781 (2019). However, as the understanding of suicide by society 

andtmodem medicine has evolved, so too has case law on negligence claims related to foreseeable 

suicide. As discussed herein, this evolution, along with the logical consideration of health care 
' 

provider responsibility, justify reversal of the circuit court's dismissal of this action. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

This appeal involves issues that have not been authoritatively decided. Petitioner believes 

-
the 9-uestions presented are therefore appropriate for oral argument in accordance with Rules 18, 

19 and 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. 

ARGUMENT 

I. The Circuit Court Erred by Finding No Special Relationship Leading to a Duty 
to Prevent Suicide Exists Between a Patient and Her Mental Health Care 
Providers Despite Over 10 Years of Monthly Treatment Which Continued Until 
10 Days Before Patient's Death 

In support of its determination that custodial care is required for a viable action to exist 

under the MPLA, the circuit court relied primarily on Moats v. Preston County Comm 'n. 206 

W. Va. 8, 521 S.E.2d 180 (1999) and Hull v. Dr. Muhammed Samar Nasher-Alneam No. 18-1028, 

2020 WL 882087. In Moats, this Court answered affirmatively the question of whether there could 

be liability for negligence where a detainee in jail committed suicide after a hospital representative 

dropped the detainee off at jail but failed to advise the jail that the detainee was suicidal. The 

holding from Moats most critical to this case is found in Syllabus Point 6, which states as follows: 
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,, 
I 

Recovery for wrongful death by suicide may be possible where the defendant had 
a duty to prevent the suicide from occurring. In order to recover, the plaintiffmust 
show the existence of some relationship between the defendant( s) and the decedent 
giving rise to a duty to prevent the decedent from committing suicide. Generally, 
such relationship exists if one of the parties, knowing the other is suicidal, is placed 
in the superior position of caretaker of the other who depends upon that caretaker 
either entirely or with respect to a particular matter. 

SyL Pt. 6, Moats v. Preston County Comm 'n. 206 W. Va. 8, 521 S.E.2d 180 (1999) (emphasis 

added). Interpreting the above Moats syllabus point as requiring custodial care for a finding of 

negligence connected to a foreseeable suicide as opposed to generally describing one such example 

is aivery narrow reading which contravenes the requirement that the MPLA be liberally construed. 

Se)Martin v. Smith, 190 W. Va. 286, 38 S.E.2d 318, 320 (1993) ("Not only has the Legislature 

liberalized the wrongful death recovery statute through the years, but this Court has adopted a 

liberal construction of the statute from our earliest cases."). While Moats mentions those situations 

which "generally" give rise to a duty to prevent suicide, it does not say that custodial care is always 

required for the successful recovery for wrongful death by suicide. And in fact, courts have 

permitted recovery in negligence actions absent custodial care in a number of circumstances. See 

Martin, 190 W. Va. 286; Kockelman v. Segal, 61 al. App. 4th 491 (Cal. 6th Dist. 1998) (finding that 

the trial court erred when it determined that, as a matter oflaw, a psychiatrist owed no duty of care 

to an outpatient who may be suicidal). 

Further, Moats was decided on a motion for summary judgment, not a motion to dismiss, 

and Moats did not center on medical malpractice claims. The fact that Petitioner's claims are based 

on a statutory provision rather than common law negligence removes any custodial requirement 

as ~ :basis for finding a "special relationship" leading to a duty to prevent Decedent's suicide. The 

decision to permit liability in such a circumstance was logically explained as follows by the Florida 

Supreme Court in Chirillo v. Granicz: 
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Petitioners are correct that Florida law has not extended the duty to prevent suicide 
to an outpatient scenario, but such fact only highlights why Petitioners' attempt to 
classify the duty in the instant case as a duty to prevent suicide is incorrect and 
inappropriate. The decedent in this case was an outpatient of Dr. Chirillo' s. 
Therefore, under Florida law, there was no duty to prevent her suicide .... However, 
the nonexistence of one specific type of duty does not mean that Dr. Chirillo owed 
the decedent no duty at all. As we plainly stated in McCain, there are several 
sources of duty. Although the inpatient duty to prevent suicide does not apply here, 
there still existed a statutory duty under section 766.102 to treat the decedent in 
accordance with the standard of care. We find that the Second District properly 
evaluated the instant case based on the statutory duty owed to the decedent and also 
properly classified the foreseeability of the decedent's suicide as a matter of fact 
for the jury to decide in determining proximate cause. 

199 So. 3d 246 (Fla. 2016). Likewise, in McLaughlin v. Sullivan, 123 N.H. 335, 461 A2d. 123 

(1983), cited with approval in Moats, the court clarified that exceptions have evolved from the 

historical bar on actions seeking damages for the suicide of another. One such exception is the 

existence of a statutory duty imposed on persons or institutions such as mental hospitals, 

psychiatrists and other mental-health trained professionals, deemed to have a special training and 

expertise enabling them to detect mental illness and/or the potential for suicide, and which have 

the power or control necessary to prevent that suicide. Id. at 338, 126. Much like the plaintiff in 

Chirillo and McLaughlin, even in the absence of inpatient treatment there still existed a statutory 

duty to treat the Decedent in this matter in accordance with the standard of care as set forth in 

W. Va. Code Section 55-7B-3. Here, Respondents had a long-term special physician-patient 

relationship with Decedent - that of a mental health care provider and patient. The relationship 

continued for over ten (10) years and treatment occurred on at least a monthly basis during this 

time. In the days leading to her suicide, Decedent confided in Respondents about matters that 

would never be discussed outside such a "special relationship," including the fact that she had 

threatening visual hallucinations, auditory hallucinations, and suicidal ideations shortly before she 

took her own life. It was in the context of that special relationship between mental health care 
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providers and a troubled patient that the Respondents had the power or control necessary to prevent 

that suicide through re-admission to its available crisis stabilization unit, medication adjustments, 

increased follow-up counseling, etc. Respondents are entitled to retain an expert witness to respond 

to Petitioner's claims and defend against Petitioner's claims as to breach and causation; however, 

to deny a special relationship existed in this case is to turn a blind eye to the significant and 

important relationship health care providers in all fields of medicine have with their patients. 

Finally, the circuit court based its dismissal of this case, in part, on its misreading of this 

Court's ruling in Hull v. Nasher-Alneam, a non-published memorandum opinion, No. 18-1028, 

2020 WL 882087 (Feb. 24, 2020). 1 Notwithstanding the misapplication discussed below, Hull is 

factually distinguishable from the matter at issue. The distinctions between Hull and the matter 

sub judice are substantial serving to distinguish it entirely: 

• In Hull, the health care providers were orthopedic, not mental health care providers, 
like the mental health care provider Respondents in the instant matter; 

• The health care providers in Hull treated the decedent for orthopedic issues, chronic 
pain and sleeplessness, not for mental health treatment or suicidality like the 
Respondent mental health care providers in the matter at issue;

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