FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIADO NOT DEMOVE No. 20-0750 FRUN FILE

CHRISTOPHER MORRIS, individually and as Administrator of the ESTATE OF AMY CHRISTINE WADE,

Petitioner and Plaintiff Below,

v.

STEVEN CORDER, M.D.; MELANIE BASSA, M.A.;
MARTHA DONAHUE, N.P.; NORTHWOOD HEALTH SYSTEMS, INC.;
MID-VALLEY HEALTHCARE SYSTEMS, INC. and JOHN DOES 1-5,

Respondents and Defendants Below.

JOINT BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Roberta F. Green (WV Bar # 6598)

rgreen@shumanlaw.com

Justin M. Kearns (WV Bar # 12618)

jkearns@shumanlaw.com

Shuman McCuskey Slicer PLLC

1411 Virginia Street East, Suite 200 (25301)

Post Office Box 3953

Charleston, WV 25339-3953

(304) 345-1400

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

For all of the reasons set forth below, Respondents appear before this Honorable Court in support of the Circuit Court of Ohio County and its Order that fully and fairly considers the fact and law of the instant matter, and applies that law to these facts accurately, appropriately, lawfully. Respondents seek the relief this Court deems just.

VI. RESPONSE TO STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT.

The Estate's appeal can be resolved without argument based upon the application of established law to the facts. However, to the extent that the Estate seeks an expansion of established West Virginia law, its arguments in favor of liability for non-custodial suicides would seem to arise under West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure Rule 20. The Respondents will await the Court's determination as to the need for oral argument and as to its estimation of the nature of claim and relief sought.

VII. RESPONSE

A. Introduction.

B. De Novo Standard of Review.

Respondents agree with Petitioner that "[a]ppellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is *de novo*." Syl. pt. 2, *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick*, 194 W. Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995).

C. Response to Assignment of Error Number 1: The Circuit Court of Ohio County correctly focused on the West Virginia law relative to suicide of an unconfined person rather than focus on 'special relationship' generally.

Petitioner has alleged that the circuit court erred when it failed to find a "special relationship" giving rise to a duty of the Respondents to prevent the decedent's suicide. This argument is a tacit recognition of the validity of the holdings in *Moats v. Preston County Comm'n*, 206 W. Va. 8, 521 S.E.2d 180 (1999), and recently reaffirmed in *Hull v. Dr. Muhammed Samar Nasher-Alneum*, 2020 W. Va. LEXIS 112, 2020 WL 882087 (2020).

In *Moats*, the decedent had been taken to a sheriff's office by mental health worker to await transport to a hospital after involuntary commitment in a mental hygiene proceeding. She was left unsupervised in office area when she went to a bathroom and ingested a lethal amount of cleaning solution. The plaintiff sued the county commission and the comprehensive behavioral health center involved in the proceeding. The *Moats* court addressed several certified questions from the circuit court surrounding liability for the suicide of a detainee from a mental hygiene proceeding.

A seminal question presented was whether the plaintiff's claims were altogether barred by the fact that the decedent had committed suicide. In answering the certified question in the negative, the Court in *Moats* held that

[a]lthough negligence actions seeking damages for the suicide of another have generally been barred because the act of suicide is considered deliberate and intentional, and therefore, an intervening act that precludes a finding that the defendant is responsible, courts have allowed such actions where the defendant is found to have had a duty to prevent the suicide from occurring. (citations omitted). The latter exception, which is at issue in this case, has generally been applied to someone who has a duty of custodial care, knows that the potential for suicide exists, and fails to take the appropriate measures to prevent the suicide from occurring. Specifically, this exception has been applied to jails, hospitals, reform schools, and others having actual physical custody and control over such persons. (citations omitted).

Moats, supra, at pp. 23-24.

The Court in *Moats* refined this very narrow exception to this general rule and clarified its holding at syllabus point 6:

Recovery for wrongful death by suicide may be possible where the defendant had a duty to prevent the suicide from occurring. In order to recover, the plaintiff must show the existence of some relationship between the defendant(s) and the decedent giving rise to a duty to prevent the decedent from committing suicide. Generally, such relationship exists if one of the parties, knowing the other is suicidal, is placed in the superior position of caretaker of the other who depends upon that caretaker either entirely or with respect to a particular matter.

Recently, the Court in *Hull* reaffirmed the existing law of *Moats*: "This Court has long held that 'negligence actions seeking damages for the suicide of another have generally been barred because the act of suicide is considered deliberate and intentional, and therefore, an intervening act that precludes a finding that the defendant is responsible' *Moats*, 206 W. Va. at 16, 521 S.E.2d at 188." *Hull, supra*, at p. 6.

In dismissing the Estate's complaint in the present case, pursuant to Respondents' motions to dismiss under the W. Va. R. Civ. P. 12 (b)(6), the Circuit Court relied upon the language of syllabus point 6 in *Moats*. In accordance with existing law, the Circuit Court granted Respondents' motions to dismiss because the complaint did "not allege that Defendants were in a relationship

that gave rise to a duty to prevent the suicide such as that of a custodial caretaker."¹³ The Circuit Court obviously contemplated that while actual custody of the decedent is not necessary to maintain a cause of action, there must be something more to the noncustodial relationship between decedent and defendant than physician and patient. The narrow exception is necessary to overcome the holding of *Moats* that the deliberate act of suicide is an intervening cause. *See Moats, supra*.

Petitioner argues that the narrow *Moats* exception can be met by implying a special relationship between the decedent and Respondents because the decedent was a long-term mental health patient of Respondents; however, such an argument was rejected by the Court in *Hull*. In *Hull*, it was alleged that defendant orthopedic surgeons should be held responsible for the decedent's suicide for their failure to properly treat the causes of the decedent's pain during the physician-patient relationship thus causing his suicide. The petitioners in *Hull* argued that the decedent had a special relationship with the defendant physicians such that it was tantamount to a custodial relationship, thus falling into the narrow exception in *Moats*. The Court in *Hull* disagreed and held that the failure of the petitioner to even allege custodial care was fatal. The Court in *Hull* held that "[i]nasmuch as petitioners allege no facts that would cause this case to fall within the single, narrow exception to the general rule, we concur with the circuit court's well-founded conclusion that Mr. Hull's suicide bars petitioners' claims." *Hull*, 2020 W. Va. LEXIS at 8. The *Hull* Court held that the narrow exception to the *Moats* rule must be plead and it was not.

Petitioner is urging this Court to hold that a statutory cause of action for professional negligence under the Medical Professional Liability Act, §55-7B-1 *et seq*. (MPLA) vitiates well-established and well-founded law of *Moats*, which would be a drastic departure from conventional

¹³ JA0212.

holdings. The action in *Hull* was likewise based upon the MPLA, and the Court did not hold that a statutory action under the MPLA provided an exception to the *Moats* rule. Petitioner was still required to plead a common law action that fell under the narrow exception set forth in *Moats*.

The Circuit Court did not err when it followed *Moats* and *Hull* and granted Respondents' motions to dismiss under W. Va. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).

D. Response to Assignment of Error Number 2: The Circuit Court of Ohio County did not obviate the need for reasonably ordinary care. Instead, the Circuit Court correctly relied upon West Virginia law in holding that non-custodial patients who commit suicide are different as a matter of law than other patients, such that their healthcare providers' duties differ as well.

Petitioner's arguments below and on appeal are based in emotion¹⁴ and urge this Court to respond accordingly. For instance, here Petitioner initiates its arguments relying upon the fundamentals of negligence: duty, breach, causation, damages. In doing so, the Estate equates West Virginia's law on non-custodial suicide with allowing healthcare providers to proceed without even reasonably ordinary care.¹⁵ Whereas the Estate discusses West Virginia law on duty, presenting cases both where duty was found and where it was not,¹⁶ none of the cases the Estate cites are suicide cases beyond *Moats* and *Hull*. Petitioner's Brief concedes that the question of whether a duty exists is a question of law for the court. While the Brief focuses on duty in instances such as car insurance, credit reporting and construction, this Court has expressly found that, as a

¹⁴ See, e.g., Petitioner's Brief at 1, 4, contrasting the Court's stripping the Estate of remedy for the 'negligent conduct of health care providers' in the face of rapid decline, disheveled appearance, without sleep, 'life has been hell.'

¹⁵ Petitioner's Brief at 11.

¹⁶ Parsley v. General Motors Acceptance Corp., 167 W. Va. 866, 280 S.E.2d 703 (1981), finding that car dealer has no duty to ensure that purchaser has insurance beyond initial 30-day policy; Daugherty v. Equifax Info. Servs., LLC, No. 5:14-CV024506, duty to ensure credit report is accurate; Lockhart v. Airco Heating & Cooling, Inc., 211 W. Va. 609, 567 S.E.2d 619 (2002), failure to prove duty to protect worker from known hazards of his job; Sewell v. Gregory, 179 W. Va. 585, 371 S.E.2d 82 1988), considering common law duty of homebuilder outside privity of contract; Pack v. Van Meter, 177 W. Va. 485, 354 S.E.2d 581 (1986), considering duties in places of public accommodation; Bunner v. United States, 6:13-CV-20655 (2016), failure of duty to treat mouth lesion.

matter of law, suicide is different. In *Moats* and *Hull*, this Court expressly limited the holdings to suicide, finding duty in only two instances. It bears noting again that this exceedingly narrow rendering of duty is not available relative to diseases or conditions that can be diagnosed or predicted by tests such as an x-ray, a lab test, or a blood screen. Indeed, this Court's holdings in *Moats* and *Hull* apply only in narrow instances and not to general medical claims – and that is for the inescapable reason that suicide is different. Repeatedly this Court has held that suicide is a volitional act that may occur at any time, and without warning, even in instances in which the decedent had been confined. The true landscape of the conscious and unconscious mind remains, finally, far from definitive estimation and discovery, available only through as large or as little a window, clearly or darkly, only as the patient allows. Therefore, claims "seeking damages for the suicide of another are generally barred because the act of suicide is considered deliberate and intentional, and therefore, an intervening act precludes a finding that the defendant is responsible." *Moats v. Preston County Commission*, 206 W. Va. 8, 16, 521 S.E.2d 180, 188 (1999) (internal citations omitted).

Repeatedly and in various contexts, this Court has joined other jurisdictions in addressing suicide and in finding finally that it is a choice by the person that arises and falls outside the surrounding relationships, absent conduct that causes the act or custodial care.¹⁷ As defendants have argued and as this Court has repeatedly – and recently – emphasized, an individual such as a health care provider may not be held liable for the suicide of another unless *each and every one* of the following factors is present at the time of death: (1) the health care provider has a duty of custodial care, (2) the health care provider knows that the potential for suicide exists, and (3) the

¹⁷ See, e.g., Dezort v. Village of Hinsdale, 35 Ill. App. 3d 703, 342 N.E.2d 468 (1976); LaVigne v. Allen, 36 A.D.2d 981, 321 N.Y.S.2d 179 (1971); Bramlette v. Charter-Medical-Columbia, 302 S.C. 68, 393 S.E.2d 914 (1990). See also Sester v. Harvey, 2015 WV Lexis 516 (April 10, 2015), in which his Court cited the Moats Syl. pt. 1 as "announcing an important new point of law."

health care provider fails to take measures to prevent the suicide from occurring. *Hull v. Nasher-Alneam*, No. 18-1028, 2020 W. Va. Lexis 112 (W. Va. Feb. 24, 2020) at [4] (finding that "[t]o fit within this exception, petitioners would have had to allege facts to satisfy each of these elements: custodial care, knowledge of the potential for suicide, and failure to take appropriate measures to prevent the suicide from occurring."); *see also Moats v. Preston County Commission*, 206 W. Va. 8, 16, 521 S.E.2d 180, 188 (1999).

Pursuant to West Virginia law, duty is a question of law for the courts, ¹⁸ and this Court has joined other jurisdictions in determining that, as a matter of law, non-custodial suicide constitutes an intervening, superseding act that undercuts any attachment of duty. Every suicide leaves healthcare providers and families wondering what if, could they have, if only – but, finally, the decisional moment is beyond objective assessment by anyone but the patient herself. In crafting Syllabus point 6 of *Moats*, this Court considered the law from various jurisdictions, analyses and treaties on the subject of suicide¹⁹ and determined 'duty' relative to suicide in West Virginia:

Recovery for wrongful death by suicide may be possible where the defendant had a duty to prevent the suicide from occurring. In order to recover, the plaintiff must show the existence of some relationship between the defendant(s) and the decedent

¹⁸ Harris v. R.A. Martin, Inc., 204 W. Va. 397, 404, 513 S.E.2d 170, 177 (1998).

¹⁹ Moats, 206 W. Va. at 16, 521 S.E.2d at 188, citing Comment, Civil Liability for Causing or Failing to Prevent Suicide, 12 Loy.L.A.L.Rev. 967, 968 (1979) While the *Moats* opinion does not quote from the Comment, it bears noting in this context that it provides as follows:

Suicide is a traumatic event that produces conflicting feelings in the close relatives of the person who has committed suicide. These survivors often feel somehow responsible for the death and, at the same time, seek to blame someone else for it. This blame is more frequently taking the form of a lawsuit, as an increasing number of persons turns to the courts for the resolution of their problems.

While there may be instances in which the imposition of liability will be proper, an examination of this litigation reveals that liability is often being imposed even though the facts of the case and the applicable law indicate that it is inappropriate to do so. To point out these errors in analysis, this comment examines two fundamentally different circumstances that may create liability for suicide[.]

giving rise to a duty to prevent the decedent from committing suicide. Generally, such relationship exists if one of the parties, knowing the other is suicidal, is placed in the superior position of caretaker of the other who depends upon that caretaker either entirely or with respect to a particular matter.

Despite this Court's express statements made decades apart in *Moats* and *Hull*, Petitioner urges a change in that law, urges a new understanding of intervening, superseding cause per West Virginia law. Where Petitioner revisits instances in which a jury could determine proximate cause, Petitioner gets there by jumping over this Court's determination that, as a matter of law, a patient's decision to end his or her life is a superseding, intervening cause except in two discrete circumstances (neither of which applies here). This Court has recognized that suicide is a volitional act, undetectable, undiagnosable with any objective precision, especially in an outpatient population such as this, where no one had contacted the healthcare providers for ten days since the patient's last visit and where, by the Estate's own recitation of the facts, the patient denied suicidal ideations at her last appointment on June 20 (ten days before her death) and had not raised the subject of suicidal ideation since June 11, nineteen days prior to her death. It will not have escaped the Court's attention that Petitioner's Brief stops short of alleging that decedent expressed suicidal intention (different than ideation), ever expressed a plan or had taken steps toward completing any plan. The Brief stops short of recounting any recognition by the family of a behavioral or cognitive change, of statements of intent or plan. And nowhere in the record here or below does the Estate allege that calls to providers went unanswered or that the family had concerns that went unheeded or that anyone – even those in the same household with decedent -- knew or could have known what was in her heart and mind. Ms. Wade's death is a tragedy for the family, for the care providers, for the patient herself. Yet, this Court has recognized that, in the absence of duty, no actionable claim may lie.²⁰

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